
South Hams Joint 
Development Management 
Committee and Overview & 
Scrutiny Panel
Title: Agenda
Date: Thursday, 4th June, 2020

Time: 10.00 am  (to Reconvene at 2.00 pm if required)

Venue: Via Skype

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Birch
Vice Chairman Cllr Smerdon

Members: Cllr Brazil
Cllr Brown
Cllr Foss
Cllr Hodgson
Cllr Holway
Cllr Pennington
Cllr Pringle
Cllr Rowe
Cllr Abbott
Cllr Austen
Cllr Chown
Cllr Jackson

Cllr Kemp
Cllr Long
Cllr McKay
Cllr O'Callaghan
Cllr Pannell
Cllr Reeve
Cllr Rose
Cllr Spencer
Cllr Sweett
Cllr Taylor
Cllr Thomas

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Democratic Services@swdevon.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



Page No

1.  Apologies for Absence 

2.  Minutes of last Meeting 1 - 8

to approve as a true and correct record the minutes of the Joint 
Meeting held on 23 January 2020;

3.  Urgent Business

brought forward at the discretion of the Chairman;

4.  Division of Agenda

to consider whether the discussion of any item of business is likely 
to lead to the disclosure of exempt information;

5.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such 
interests they may have in any items to be considered at this 
meeting;

6.  Public Forum 9 - 10

A period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with issues 
raised by the public;

7.  Executive Forward Plan

to follow;

8.  Coronavirus (COVID-19) Response and Draft Recovery and 
Renewal Plan Development 

11 - 36



O+S 23.1.20
  

MINUTES OF THE JOINT MEETING OF THE 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL AND THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE HELD AT FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES ON
THURSDAY, 23 JANUARY 2020  

Panel Members in attendance:
* Denotes attendance    Ø  Denotes apology for absence         

* Cllr V Abbott * Cllr J McKay
* Cllr L Austen * Cllr O’Callaghan
* Cllr J P Birch (Chairman) *  Cllr G Pannell
* Cllr J Brazil * Cllr J T Pennington
Ø Cllr D Brown * Cllr K Pringle
* Cllr M Chown * Cllr H Reeve
* Cllr R J Foss * Cllr J Rose
* Cllr J M Hodgson * Cllr R Rowe
* Cllr T R Holway * Cllr P C Smerdon (Vice Chairman)
* Cllr S Jackson * Cllr B Spencer
Ø Cllr K Kemp * Cllr B Taylor
* Cllr M Long * Cllr D Thomas

Other Members also in attendance: 
Cllrs K Baldry, H Bastone, J Hawkins, N Hopwood and J Pearce

Item No Minute Ref No
below refers

Officers in attendance and participating

All Senior Leadership Team, Head of Practice – Development 
Management and Senior Specialist – Democratic Services

OSDM.1/19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of the meeting and these were 
recorded as follows:-

Cllr P C Smerdon declared a Personal Interest in Items 5: ‘Public Forum’ 
and 7: ‘Revenue Budget Proposals for 2020/21’ (Minutes OSDM.2/19 and 
OSDM.3/19 below refer) specifically in relation to the funding 
recommendations to the South Hams Community and Voluntary Service 
(CVS) by virtue of being a trustee of the South Hams CVS.  Since there 
was to be no debate during the Public Forum agenda item, Cllr Smerdon 
proceeded to remain in the meeting during consideration of this matter.  
With regard to the ‘Revenue Budget Proposals for 2020/21’, Cllr Smerdon 
made a statement on the CVS funding proposal and then proceeded to 
leave the meeting room during consideration of this aspect of the agenda 
item. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



O+S 23.1.20
OSDM.2/19 PUBLIC FORUM

In accordance with the Public Forum Procedure Rules, the Chairman 
informed that one question had been received for consideration during 
the agenda item.

1. Question from Penny Elghady

‘Every district in Devon funds their local CVS (Community and 
Voluntary Services), helping to support their priorities in building 
resilient, safe and connected communities with the well-being of 
residents at their heart. The support of the District Council to South 
Hams CVS over many years has been invaluable, also in reinforcing 
the trust in the sector and the CVS with other funders and partners. 
The total withdrawal of the grant to South Hams CVS, proposed in 
the budget, would therefore put the CVS at significant risk of closure 
and the safe future of the voluntary sector in South Hams at risk. 
What thoughts have the Council given to how support will be 
provided to the voluntary and community sector in the South Hams 
without the core services of South Hams CVS?’

In reply, the Chairman of the Panel advised that this matter was to 
be considered at this meeting in conjunction with the Revenue 
Budget Proposals for 2020-21 agenda item (Minute OSDM.3/19 
below refers).  It was his intention at the appropriate time to 
recommend an alternative proposal whereby the £10,000 grant to 
the CVS should be reinstated.  In the event of this proposal being 
approved at this meeting, then the Chairman informed that this 
recommendation would be considered by the Executive at its next 
meeting on 6 February 2020 before being presented to the Council 
meeting on 13 February 2020.  Finally, the Chairman advised that 
there was further provision for public questions to be submitted to 
the Executive.

Ms Elghady welcomed the response given and asked a 
supplementary question regarding what measures the CVS could 
undertake in order to improve its working relations with the Council.  
In response, the Chairman was of the view that this was likely to 
become apparent during the debate at this meeting.

OSDM.3/19 REVENUE BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2020-21

Members considered a report that asked for their views on the content of 
the draft Revenue Budget Proposals report for 2020-21.

In discussion, particular reference was made to:-

(a) a Community Transport scheme being developed in Kingsbridge.  
Whilst there had been no requests made for funding for 2020-21, if 
such a scheme was developed in Kingsbridge, then representatives 
would be encouraged to submit a request to the Council that would 
be considered during the 2021-22 draft budget setting process;

Page 2



O+S 23.1.20

(b) Employment Estates Income of £25,000.  A Member sought 
confirmation that this income was for the Ermington Business Units.  
In reply, officers confirmed that this was the case;

(c) the budget pressure derived from Housing Benefit Overpayment 
recoveries.  When questioned, the Section 151 Officer confirmed 
that, as a consequence of the Universal Credit scheme and the 
Department of Work and Pensions Real Time Information Referrals, 
there were now fewer Overpayments being generated in real time 
and this had created a budget pressure.  However, the Section 151 
Officer also confirmed that this budget pressure would have no 
detrimental impact on claimants and was purely due to less 
Overpayments being generated;

(d) the Marine Infrastructure Reserve.  Officers confirmed that the delay 
in the Batson project would result in the allocated £68,000 being 
retained within the Marine Infrastructure Reserve;

(e) an alternative set of Revenue Budget recommendations were 
PROPOSED and SECONDED as follows:-

‘1. That a fund of £400,000 be set up for Emergency Climate 
Change projects in order to give effect to the Action Plan being 
produced by the Council.  It is proposed that part of the fund be 
open to bids from Community Groups with proposals for Climate 
Change projects.  The mechanism for providing such funds to be 
established as well as the extent of the expenditure by the 
Council and that awarded to Community Groups;

2. That car parking charges for all car parks be frozen (cost 
£80,000);

3. That the budget gap of £51,543 be closed.

(NB. the total additional expenditure of the above points 1, 2 and 3 
is £531,543).

This additional expenditure to be funded from:

1. The anticipated income from planning fees being increased by 
£75,000;

2. The anticipated income for car parking fees being increased by 
£50,000;

3. That an additional sum of £406,543 be used from the New 
Homes Bonus fund,

(NB. the total of the above to support the additional expenditure is 
£531,543).

Page 3



O+S 23.1.20
In respect of Partnership Funding, the £10,000 being sought by the 
South Hams Community and Voluntary Service (CVS) be reinstated.  
(There is already £7,000 to cover this expenditure in the budget and 
it is proposed that the remaining balance of £3,000 be taken from 
the remainder of the unallocated New Homes Bonus; and

As to the remainder of the unallocated New Homes Bonus (totalling 
£289,616), it is proposed that this funding be earmarked as a 
contribution towards a reduction in the funding gap for 2021/22.

The meeting proceeded to consider each aspect of the alternative 
budget proposals as follows:

Emergency Climate Change Projects Fund – there was 
widespread support expressed for this proposal which it was felt 
reflected the seriousness of the Climate Change agenda and the 
fact that the Council had declared a Climate Change and 
Biodiversity Emergency.

Whilst it was recognised that the mechanism to allocate monies 
from the Fund was still to be developed, it was noted that the 
Climate Change and Biodiversity Working Group would have a key 
role to play in this process.

When put to the vote, this proposal was declared CARRIED.

Freezing Car Parking Charges – the proposer of the motion 
advised that the main purpose of a freeze would be to support the 
viability of town centres in the South Hams.

During the debate, it became apparent that there were contrasting 
views over this proposal with supporting views including:

- a wish to revisit the proposal to introduce car parking charges at 
Follaton House;

- charges being less in a number of other local authority areas; 
and

- the public transport links in the South Hams being so poor that 
car usage was a necessity. 

In contrast, other Members expressed their opposition to the 
proposals and stated that:

- there was no proven direct linkages between car parking 
charges and town centre viability.  Some Members were of the 
view that the key factors that were harming the viability of town 
centres were the significant increase in online shopping activity; 
high rents; and business rates;

- the proposed 4% increase not being a significant amount and, 
when considering that a commitment had been made by the 
Leader for this to be the only increase during the four year 
Council administration, this would constitute a below inflationary 
increase; and

Page 4



O+S 23.1.20
- by encouraging increased car usage, a freeze in charges would 

contradict the Council’s Climate Change Emergency Declaration.

When put to the vote, this proposal was declared CARRIED.

Closing the Budget Gap of £51,543 – the meeting recognised the 
need to set a balanced budget and, when put to the vote, this 
proposal was declared CARRIED. 

Additional Income from Planning Fees – the proposer made 
reference to the trend over the last two years whereby planning 
income had been over and above the forecasted target.  As a result, 
the proposer felt that there was scope to increase the anticipated 
income from planning fees by £75,000.

During the subsequent debate, reference was made to a Briefing 
Paper that had been produced by the Head of Development 
Management Practice that had cast some doubt on the ability for the 
Council to achieve an additional income of £75,000.  In particular, 
the Paper had set out that, since the Council now had an adopted 
Joint Local Plan, it was able to set income projections with more 
certainty and it was deemed unlikely that the Council would be able 
to deliver on such a revised target.

Notwithstanding this advice, the proposal, when put to the vote, was 
declared CARRIED.

Additional Income from Car Parking Charges – with no debate 
ensuing, the proposal, when put to the vote, was declared 
CARRIED.

Additional Monies from the New Homes Bonus Fund – with no 
debate ensuing, the proposal, when put to the vote, was declared 
CARRIED.

Reinstating the CVS Funding Proposal – in discussion, Executive 
Members advised that their original recommendation to reduce the 
grant funding to the CVS had been generated through a lack of 
information and clarity that had been provided by the organisation.  
Whilst there was a lack of clarity over the services that were 
provided by the CVS and how they used the grant funding provided 
by the Council, reference was made to a meeting that was to take 
place on Thursday, 30 January 2020 with Council representatives 
and the CVS when it was hoped that this matter would be 
overcome.

A number of Members paid tribute to the work that was undertaken 
by the CVS and it was hoped that a closer partnership working 
relationship could now be developed between the organisation and 
the Council.

Page 5



O+S 23.1.20
Some Members also made the point that the CVS should be asking 
that other partner agencies (e.g. LiveWest and Fusion Lifestyle) 
make a funding contribution for the services that it delivered on its 
behalf.

The proposal, when put to the vote, was declared CARRIED.

Using the Unallocated New Homes Bonus Funding towards 
reducing the Budget Gap – with no debate ensuing, the proposal, 
when put to the vote, was declared CARRIED.

(f) the proposed inclusion of an Economy Officer post.  Whilst there 
was general support for inclusion of this additional post, the meeting 
requested that, as part of the agenda papers presented to the 
Executive at its meeting on 6 February 2020, a draft Job Description 
and the associated outcomes and targets for the role also be 
included.

It was then:

RECOMMENDED

That the Executive RECOMMEND to Council that the joint meeting 
supports:-

1. the increase in Council Tax for 2020/21 of £5 (Band D of 
£170.42 for 2020/21 – an increase of 10 pence per week or £5 
per year – equating to a 3.02% increase);

2. the financial pressures amounting to £1,578,640 (as shown in 
Appendix A of the presented agenda report);

3. the net contributions to/from Earmarked Reserves amounting to 
£63,243 (as shown in Appendix D of the presented agenda 
report);

4. the proposed savings of £959,477 for 2020/21 (as shown in 
Appendix A of the presented agenda report);

5. the proposed funding levels (as set out in section 2.38 of the 
presented agenda report), subject to the reinstatement of the 
£10,000 funding to the South Hams CVS;

6. the proposed use of £509,543 of New Homes Bonus funding to 
balance the 2020/21 Revenue Budget (as shown in Section 
2.25 of the presented agenda report); 

7. the use of £400,000 of New Homes Bonus funding to set up an 
Emergency Climate Change projects Earmarked Reserve; and

Page 6



O+S 23.1.20
8. the inclusion of an Economy Officer post (shared with West 

Devon Borough Council within the staffing establishment as set 
out in Section 1.7 of the presented agenda report), subject to 
the Executive being in receipt of a draft Job Description and the 
associated outcomes and targets for the role.

OSDM.4/19 CAPITAL BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2020/21

Members considered a report that set out the Capital Bids to the 
2020/21 Capital Programme and outlined a suggested way that these 
Bids could be funded.

It was then:

RECOMMENDED

That the Joint Meeting RECOMMEND that the Executive 
RECOMMEND to Council that:-

1. the content of the Capital Programme Proposals for 2020/21 
that totals £2,480,000 (as set out in Appendix A of the presented 
agenda report) be supported;

2. the content of the Capital Programme Proposals for 2020/21 
that totals £1,250,000 (as set out in exempt Appendix B of the 
presented agenda report) be supported; and

3. the proposed financing of the 2020/21 Capital Programme of 
£3,730,000 from the funding sources (as set out in Section 4 of 
the presented agenda report) be supported.

(Meeting started at 10.00 am and concluded at 12.10 pm)

    ___________________
Chairman

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
PUBLIC FORUM PROCEDURES 
 
(a) General 

 
Members of the public may raise issues and ask questions at meetings of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel in relation to agenda items (and in accordance 
with the O&S rules in Part 4). This session will last for up to fifteen minutes at 
the beginning of each meeting. 
 
(b) Notice of Questions 
 
An issue or question may only be raised by a member of the public provided 
that they have given written notice (which may be by electronic mail) to 
Democratic Services (Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk) by 5.00pm on 
the Monday, prior to the relevant meeting. 
 
(c) Scope of Questions 
 
An issue may be rejected by the Monitoring Officer if: 
 
it relates to a matter within the functions of the Development 

Management Committee; 
 
it is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility 

or which affects the district; 
 
it is offensive, frivolous or defamatory; 
 
it is substantially the same as a question which has previously been 
   put in the past six months; or 
 
it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel/Development Management 
Committee

Date: 4 June 2020

Title: Coronavirus (COVID-19) Response and 
Draft Recovery and Renewal Plan 
Development

Portfolio Area: Council – Cllr Judy Pearce (Leader)

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: Recommendations 
to the Executive meeting to be held on 18 
June 2020

Author: Drew Powell Role: Director of Governance 
and Assurance

Contact: 01803 861240 email: drew.powell@swdevon.gov.uk

RECOMMENDATIONS:

That the Joint meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel and 
Development Management Committee RECOMMEND to the Executive 
to:

1. Note and endorse the Councils response to the Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) Pandemic to date;

2. Request that Officers develop a Recovery and Renewal Plan in 
line with the framework and objectives outlined in Appendix 1;

3. Take into account the conclusions of the Joint meeting on the 
priority areas for the Strategic Framework for Recovery and 
Renewal; and

4. Request that an update on progress against development of the 
Plan be brought back to a Joint meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel/Development Management Committee on 3 
September 2020.

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



1. Executive summary 

1.1 The Council has played a vital role in responding to the global 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic by continuing to deliver core 
services whilst also re-aligning staff and resources to respond to the 
emerging needs of the community and Government initiatives. 

1.2 The agile operating model established over the last few years has 
enabled the vast majority of staff to work efficiently and safely from 
home, whilst the ability and willingness of staff to take on new 
challenges has delivered support where it has been urgently needed.

1.3 The Leader, Executive and wider membership have been at the fore 
front of the response working with their communities to provide 
support to the most vulnerable and local business.

1.4 The Council has instigated a well-balanced communications strategy, 
both internally and externally, focussing on Community leadership and 
the direct delivery of information through multiple channels and in 
conjunction with key partners.

1.5 However, the Council’s finances have been adversely impacted for a 
number of reasons with a loss of income being a significant factor. The 
scale of the impact cannot be accurately assessed at this stage and 
will be dependent on a number of factors including clarity on 
timescales for recovery and future Government support.

1.6 Although it is clear that, in emergency planning terms, we are still in 
the ‘response’ phase, it is important to plan towards ‘recovery’ and 
‘renewal’ even though there are numerous unknowns.

1.7 The Government, specialist organisations and other sectors are turning 
their intention to recovery and what the ‘new normal’ may look like 
and what is the best route to get there. The only thing that is clear at 
this stage is that there is no consensus or clarity, but that there will 
need to be a phased approach which is, where possible, evidence-led.  

1.8 This report summarises what continues to be a highly effective 
response to the challenges of the pandemic. The report also outlines 
early thinking with regard to the challenges that the Council will face 
and provides an initial opportunity for Members to input to the way 
forward.

2. Background 

2.1 The Coronavirus (COVID-19) global pandemic has impacted the lives 
of everybody in our District. The response has by necessity been 
large-scale and complex involving all sectors of the community from 
the Government through to individual volunteers. 

2.2 The pandemic has had a significant impact in numerous ways 
including the tragic loss of lives, major disruption to education and, an 
as yet, unmeasured economic shock. 

2.3 It is unclear how the pandemic will develop and, although to date the 
south west region has not been subject to the high rates of both 
infection and mortality witnessed elsewhere in the country, there is 
the very real risk of a second peak of infection.

Page 12



2.4 The Council continues to play a key role, alongside partners, in 
responding to the short, medium and long term impacts of the 
pandemic and has implemented and enabled a range of essential 
support for individuals, the wider community and business.

3. Outcomes/outputs 

3.1 This report sets out a summary of the Council’s highly effective 
response to date and proposals for a framework to support the 
development of a Recovery and Renewal Plan. 

4. Preparation and Initial Response

4.1 Prior to the national implementation of the range of ‘lockdown’ 
measures, and based on intelligence from a range of sources, the 
Council took a number of actions to support its emergency plans. 
These included running a pandemic flu exercise for the Extended 
Leadership Team and setting up an Incident Management Team which 
met each morning to enable informed, operational decisions to be 
made quickly and emerging risks to be assessed. 

4.2 Regionally, the Council is part of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) 
which is a multi-agency partnership made up of representatives from 
the emergency services, the NHS, Public Health England, Local 
Authorities and others, which includes the military. The LRF work to 
identify potential risks and produce plans to prevent or mitigate the 
impacts of, in this case, the pandemic based on the ‘reasonable worst 
case scenario’. 

4.3 During an emergency, or when a major incident is declared, the LRF 
set up a ‘Battle Rhythm’ of meetings and Senior Officers were 
nominated to join calls on the Tactical (TCG) and Strategic (SCG) 
Coordinating Groups. This, along with the Leaders attendance at 
various national, regional and county wide forums, ensured that we 
were fully informed of developments as they emerged.

5. Responding to Community Need

5.1 As the full extent of the lockdown measures, the impact of the virus 
and the Government initiatives around support for the vulnerable and 
business began to emerge, it was clear that Council resources needed 
to be reallocated.   
 

5.2 The Community Response Team (CRT) was formed in March and 
includes a core of officers from a wide range of service areas. This is 
work that we have previously not been resourced to deliver and so 
Managers were asked to nominate employees that could focus on this 
work while keeping a hand in with their substantive roles. We 
currently have 35 officers from areas including Localities, Assets, 
Housing, Contract Management, Facilities, Elections and Democratic 
Services supporting this work. 

Page 13



5.3 The team are arranged in Clusters and hold regular calls with their 
local Ward Members and immediately started to help provide and 
enable support for vulnerable residents across the District. Key actions 
and outcomes include;

 Developed a website detailing support groups in each Parish 
including groups that:

 Collect shopping and prescriptions 
 Walk vulnerable and shielded residents dogs 
 Operate Community Support telephone lines
 Provide emergency food through Foodbanks 

 Made contact with over 100 organisations providing Food Banks 
(or equivalent support) to identify any gaps in provision and 
ensure that we were able to refer vulnerable individuals.  

 Created a Local Action Support Fund to help local community 
groups in supporting our most vulnerable residents 

 Launched a Community Helpline which has dealt with over 345 
calls

 Delivered emergency food supplies to those individuals that are 
‘Shielded’

5.4 The CRT also supported 22 applications for funding from Community 
Groups to support local action. The Councils contribution of £4,500 
helped lever-in in excess of an additional £45,000 to increase the 
capacity of the groups to provide much needed support. 

5.5 A website was developed detailing currently over 85 businesses 
providing local food and essential supplies as well as remote Health 
and Wellbeing services, OFSTED register childcare for Key workers 
etc. Enabling local residents that are able to pay, to source produce 
supporting local businesses and quick delivery.

5.6 The Team negotiated and agreed a partnership arrangement with 
Devon County Council to secure £108k worth of funding to provide 
emergency financial assistance to residents and have provided 
assistance to ten families and two individuals to date.

5.7 Responding to concerns from the public, the Environmental Health 
Team have dealt with over 75 complaints regarding businesses 
ranging from cafes to camp sites that have allegedly been operating in 
contravention of the COVID-19  Health Protection Regulations. The 
Team have contacted the business and informally resolved these 
issues whilst offering support in advance of potential changes in 
restrictions. 

6. Responding to Business Need

Business Rates Grants

Page 14



6.1 Shortly after lockdown, the Government announced a range of grants 
to support business through the pandemic. In response, we 
significantly scaled up our business rates team to deal with the 
volume of grant claims, enquiries and phone calls which inevitably 
ensued. We recognised from the outset the lifeline that these grants 
were providing to our local businesses and our local economies and 
have worked at pace to administer the grant schemes. Our current 
operating model enabled us to flex our staffing resources and quickly 
train staff up, so that we had a team of over twenty staff, working 
over a seven day week, administering the grants during the peak of 
April.

6.2 As a result, to date, we have paid grants to 3,350 out of 4,068 of the 
identified eligible business which is 82.4%. This amounts to 
£38,495,000 of grant support.

6.3 The overall efficiency of the service is in fact much higher. The Council 
has paid out 98% of all of the eligible business grants applications that 
it has currently received. At present 630 businesses that have been 
identified as eligible applicants have still not yet applied. A significant 
proportion of these are second homes.

6.4 We have taken a number of steps to ensure that we have done 
everything possible to contact businesses to encourage them to apply, 
these including phoning all applicants, sending a second ‘chasing’ 
letter, sharing the list of ‘non-responders’ with Members to use their 
local knowledge to encourage applicants and issued regular 
communications by email to the 4,500 businesses on our business 
rates newsletter distribution list and through social media and local 
newspapers.

Discretionary Grants

6.5 On 2nd May, the Government announced that a discretionary fund 
would be made available aimed at small businesses who were not 
eligible for the Small Business Grant Fund or the Retail, Leisure and 
Hospitality Fund. Guidance on the scheme was issued to Councils on 
Wednesday, 13th May.

6.6 The fund value is equivalent to 5% of the initial allocation of these 
grants which amounts to £2.3m for the Council, which can be issued 
in £1k, £2.4k, £5k, £10k or £25k grant awards to deserving 
businesses.

6.7 Influence applied at a Devon wide level resulted in the adoption of a 
co-ordinated and consistent policy approach to the discretionary 
business grant scheme.  All the 2nd tier councils in Devon were able to 
share resources and insight to develop a common prioritisation matrix 
and website front end.

Page 15



6.8 Members were presented with the draft Policy at the Informal Council 
session that was held on 21 May 2020.  At this session, Members were 
advised of the tight timescales to roll-out this Policy and, whilst the 
Deputy Chief Executive used his ‘Emergency Powers’ provision to 
adopt the Policy, all Members were invited to provide any comments 
on the draft before the final decision was made.

6.9 We anticipate the policy to give live on the week commencing 26th 
May 2020 and that applications will be received shortly thereafter.

7. Maintaining Service Delivery

7.1 The Council’s well established agile working capability has meant that 
we have been able to continue to provide the majority of services in 
some format whilst being subject to the social distancing rules and 
other restrictions.

7.2 The Council has continued to follow Government guidance, which has 
at times been open to differing interpretation, in terms of its service 
provision and with careful consideration of our duty to the public and 
to staff welfare.

7.3 The IT infrastructure has proven to be reliable and fit for purpose. On 
average 280 concurrent users have been connected remotely with 
peaks well above 300 during, for example, virtual council meetings.

7.4 The majority of support services – IT, Finance, Democratic Services, 
HR – have continued to operate remotely with some minor changes. 

7.5 Most officers have been able to carry out their full range of duties and 
the flexibility of the case management model has enabled managers 
to move resources from lower demand service areas to support new 
requirements such as the Business Grants as detailed in section 6 
above.

7.6 In terms of frontline services again, where this has been possible, for 
example, determining planning applications under delegated authority, 
this has continued.

7.7 Some service areas have been impacted by the lockdown restrictions. 
With the vast majority of the hospitality sector closed there have been 
no standard food and health and safety inspections allowing 
Environmental Health Officers to take on infectious disease work from 
Public Health England enabling them to focus on COVID-19. 

7.8 As a result of the lockdown, waste services across both council areas 
have been affected by staffing shortages, which have continued to 
have an effect due to NHS self-isolation guidance for the most 
vulnerable. In the early stages, the level of absence due to COVID-19 
was around 20% in the South Hams and 12% in West Devon. 

Page 16



7.9 At the same time, the amount of waste being collected rose by up to 
50% across all services as house-bound residents cleared out lofts and 
garages, trimmed hedges and lawns and threw away a lot of food 
previously stored for the lockdown.

7.10 Despite fewer staff and more waste, all core services were able to 
continue as normal as crews were supplemented by diverting other 
staff where possible and using agency support. Only bulky waste 
collections had to be suspended as a result of the decision by Devon 
County Council to close the recycling centres. 

7.11 This was not the case across the rest of the country. Around 50% of 
councils reported some disruption to garden waste collections 
including Torbay and East Devon who suspended their garden 
collections entirely. Many councils reported disruption to recycling and 
street cleansing operations.

8. Leisure Services – Support to Fusion

8.1 Our leisure services operated by Fusion were forced to close as part of 
the Government response to the pandemic and as a result ceased to 
receive virtually all income.  

8.2 Fusion asked all 18 of their public sector clients for help in supporting 
the costs of mothballing the centres, so that they could remain a 
viable business.  The decision to agree to that help, for three months 
was taken under emergency powers, having balanced the monthly 
cost against the risk of business failure of Fusion to the Council.

8.3 The emergency funding phase runs to the end of June and the 
recovery phase will require careful consideration by the Council so as 
to ensure the best use of public funds, protection of the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and the best health and wellbeing 
outcomes for its residents.

9. Accessing Council Services During Lockdown

9.1 The Councils Customer Services Team have operated remotely but at 
full capacity. March, April and May would traditionally be the highest 
call volume months in the year, in the main due to the production of 
the new council tax bills and upcoming election activity. Table 1 below 
shows how overall call volumes have decreased by 23% based on last 
year’s volumes.

March 2019 April 2019 March 2020 April 2020

9977 10458 8666 7055

9.2 The number of calls increased into the Council Tax, Business Rates 
and Housing Benefits lines, reducing across all other service areas.

Page 17



9.3 This call reduction enabled a number of staff to be deployed to 
support the assessment of applications for the business support 
grants.

9.4 During the same period the visits to our website doubled as can be 
seen in Figure 1. and has remained higher than expected pre-
pandemic.

9.5 Figure 1. (we will get a clearer version for final report)

10. Staffing Capacity and Resource Management

10.1 The Councils organisational operating model, coupled with the staff 
behavioural framework has proven highly effective. Managers have 
been able to flex and move resources around the organisation to 
ensure that the appropriate resources are available at the right time. 

10.2 Members will be aware that the organisation went through a 
management restructure towards the end of 2019/20, one of the key 
purposes for this was to ensure clarity on management, improved 
flexibility and improve support for individuals and teams. 

10.3 Despite the challenges of no face to face contact the evidence detailed 
in 10.4 would indicate that all these objectives have been achieved 
and staff have responded well to the challenges of the current 
operational environment.

Page 18



10.4 Typically, in May we undertake our annual staff survey. This year we 
sought employee views specifically focused on the impact of Covid-19. 
Overall the results were positive with 271 staff completing the survey 
and nearly 500 individual comments received. The survey was 
undertaken for two weeks (week 5 & 6 of staff working from home) 

10.5 Responses would indicate that we’ve made good progress on 
supporting staff with 91% of staff responded positively to the question 
‘I have enough contact with my manager’. A similar question asked 
last year attracted an 81% positive response rate. In addition to 
contact with their manager, it was also particularly pleasing to see 
that 250 staff responded positively in respect of the teams staying 
connected during the pandemic. Some staff have even commented 
that they feel more connected as a team with the use of video calls 
increasing the number of team meetings. 

10.6 We also asked staff if they had the right equipment to be able to work 
from home and effectively do their job. Although most of our 
employees have been able to work from home when they wish for a 
number of years, full time working from home can provide different 
challenges. 92% of staff responded positively to this question but it 
did highlight that some staff required some additional equipment to 
enable them to work from home more efficiently – such as a second 
monitor or adjustable chair. We’ve put measures in place to address 
this. 

10.7 While on the whole staff feel that they have adapted well to the full 
time working at home, some staff have highlighted that it can be 
difficult and distracting where they have children or other people at 
home. Managers continue to work closely to support these staff and 
we’ve provided greater flexibility in terms of working hours to go some 
way to helping with this. 

10.8 Communication to staff was also viewed as being positive, both from 
Managers and the Senior Leadership Team. In addition to regular 
newsletters and team briefings, we have now held three rounds of full 
staff briefings over skype. These have been hosted by the Deputy 
Chief Executive and have been really well received, allowing key 
messages to be shared but more importantly for staff to ask questions 
directly to the Senior Leadership. 

10.9 During the initial phase of lockdown, due to the advice on self- 
isolation of individuals for a range of reasons, including underlying 
health conditions and suspected symptoms, it was envisaged that we 
would have high levels of sickness absence. However, a combination 
of agile working capability, lower levels of infection in the region and 
the resilience of our staff meant that this did not occur across the 
wider workforce; the exception being waste as previously detailed.  

10.10 When comparing sickness rates for the same period in 2019 and 2020 
there was in fact a reduction in the absence levels as shown in the 
Table 2 below;

Page 19



10.11 Table 2

10.12 At this stage, it is not clear if this is simply a natural variation or is 
linked to the majority of staff working from home and potentially to 
productivity. 

11. The Financial Position

11.1 The Council was already under severe financial strain before the 
coronavirus crisis, with a predicted budget gap in 2021/22 of £0.57 
million and a cumulative budget gap of £3.2 million over the five year 
period to 2024/25. This is on an annual net budget of £9.4 million for 
2020/21.

11.2 The COVID19 crisis has resulted in extra cost pressures on services that      
support the most vulnerable, in particular the homeless. The Council’s       
income from fees and charges is much reduced and there is a fear that 
council tax and business rates income will fall as people face financial 
hardship. Local Government is a frontline service and we want to ensure 
our voice is heard amongst the calls for financial support.

11.3 Additional funding is urgently needed to help Councils get through this 
crisis, support the vulnerable and adapt to life once we defeat the virus 
when our local services will be needed more than ever to help our 
communities to rebuild.

11.4 Councils are caught in a perfect storm. We have to manage both the   
increased costs of coping with COVID-19 and supporting vulnerable   
people in the community and the huge predicted loss of key income   
streams such as car parking income and council tax income. We also   

Page 20



need early certainty from the Government on planning for our 2021/22 
Budgets.

11.5 Prudent financial management in the past has meant that the Council 
was in a relatively healthy position financially before the pandemic hit. 
Since 2010, we have had to redesign our services to balance the books. 
We have done this by sharing a single workforce with West Devon 
Borough Council, generating an ongoing annual saving of £3.9 million 
for South Hams and by reducing our staffing levels by 30% through our 
Transformation Programme. 

11.6 The financial consequences of a severe and prolonged economic 
downturn could equate to anywhere between a half to two thirds of the 
Council’s net Budget of £9.4 million.

11.7 The Council welcomes the Government COVID-19 funding that we have 
received so far of £900,000. This will assist the Council to partly meet 
its projected loss of income streams such as car parking and planning 
income but it will only be part of the solution. Just the loss of income 
from car parking, some business unit rentals, Salcombe Harbour fees 
and the Dartmouth Ferry income will be very significant. 

11.8 The Council’s estimate is that we could see a reduction in income and 
increased expenditure totalling over £6 million in 2020/21. Whilst the 
funding received so far is much appreciated, it is less than one sixth of 
what the Council estimates it might need. The allocation of funding to 
Councils has been partly based on population and, as a rural Council, 
South Hams is always going to miss out on this basis. 

11.9 The Council will continue to lobby the Government so that we receive 
the appropriate level of funding to be able to plan confidently for the 
future. Each month, Councils complete a national return that informs 
the Government of how much COVID-19 is hugely affecting the finances 
of Councils. It is hoped that the Government will act with further funding 
when they have this national picture.

11.10 Future service delivery discussions are currently taking place with each 
Head of Practice area to discuss what services might look like under ‘the 
new normal’. A thorough review of all expenditure will be needed, which 
takes into account a review of statutory expenditure against non-
statutory (discretionary) expenditure and also the corporate priorities. 
This will include a review of the Council’s Capital Programme and all 
capital projects. The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy will also 
be revised. Options will be presented to Members for a revised Budget 
for 2020/21 during September 2020.

12. Moving from Response to Recovery

12.1 During most emergency and/or major incidents there is a relatively 
clear transition from response, which is led by the Police as part of a 

Page 21



multi-agency response, through to recovery which usually lies with the 
Local Authority. 

12.2 All the evidence during this pandemic points towards an extended 
response phase with the potential for further spikes in infections. This 
is reflected by the recent extension of the national Furlough scheme 
and the staged and conditional plan to relax restrictions on movement 
and contact.

12.3 What appears increasingly likely, regardless of the duration, is that 
the Council will emerge into a very different economic landscape that 
will have direct impacts on the community that we serve. 

12.4 In view of this, it is important that we take a strategic approach to 
recovery to ensure that we learn from the response, understand the 
new challenges we face and emerge as an organisation that is fit for 
purpose and financially sustainable.

12.5 The Council set its Corporate Strategy based on the needs of the 
community in May 2018 and it may well be that the inevitable 
outcome of recovery and renewal is a review and realignment of the 
Councils priorities and objectives based on changing need. 

12.6 It is important to stress that recovery and renewal will be reliant on 
the financial position in the short and the longer term. Therefore the 
approach needs be informed by this and the potential for a prolonged 
period of instability. The Plan needs to be dynamic and flexible and 
will undoubtedly develop and change over time.

13. Strategic Framework for Recovery and Renewal

13.1 An initial high level framework for discussion has been developed 
which can be found at Appendix 1 Part 1. The framework sets out the 
key areas to be explored focussing on operational (internal) actions 
and strategic (external) opportunities and challenges; there is clearly a 
cross over between these areas.

13.2  Part 2 sets out a management structure for the transition from 
response to recovery. This mirrors closely the set up that was put in 
place, and is proving effective, for the response phase, and supports 
efficient operational decision making whilst allowing strategic decisions 
to be escalated where needed. 

13.3 This structure will also serve as a vehicle for developing the Recovery 
and Renewal Plan. It is proposed that Members of the Executive lead 
on each of the themes, as detailed, working closely with a member of 
SLT and lead officer(s). In this way, the learning and opportunities 
arising from the response phase can be shared and future options 
explored. 

Page 22



13.4 Part 3 sets out draft key objectives for the plan. These objectives, 
which may well change in time, will initially help underwrite the 
development of options under the main themes within the framework 
and inform future decisions as to which options to pursue or otherwise. 

14  Proposed Way Forward

14.1 As previously stated, we are in the very early stages of the recovery 
and officer resource is primarily focussed on response and delivery of 
existing services. However, it will be helpful to set out in broad terms 
what needs to be considered under the framework and what Members 
feel should take priority.

14.2 To assist this Part 4 of Appendix 1 sets out a range of issues under 
each of the Recovery and Renewal Themes that may need to be 
considered through the development of the plan and Members are 
invited to comment on these.

14.2.1 Are they broadly correct?

14.2.2 Are there any obvious omissions?

14.2.3 Are there any areas that Members feel should be prioritised?

14.3 In view of the ever developing picture in terms of the pandemic it is 
proposed that officers then begin development of a Recovery and 
Renewal Plan in line with this report and proposals arising from this 
Joint meeting for onward consideration by the Executive. The exact 
content and timeframe for delivery will be dependent on a range of 
factors that at this stage are not fully known.

15 Implications
 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y As a Category 1 responder under the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004 the Council has a duty to 
plan and prepare a response to an emergency or 
provide support to those who do.

The ‘Response’ phase is primarily led by the police 
whilst the ‘Recovery’ phase is led by the Local 
Authority which, for Devon as a whole, will be 
Devon County Council

Page 23



Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money

The Council’s estimate is that we could see a 
reduction in income and increased expenditure 
totalling over £6 million in 2020/21. Whilst the 
Government funding received so far (£900,000) is 
much appreciated, it is less than one sixth of what 
the Council estimates it might need. The allocation 
of funding to Councils has been partly based on 
population and, as a rural Council, South Hams is 
always going to miss out on this basis.
 
The Council will continue to lobby the Government 
so that we receive the appropriate level of funding 
to be able to plan confidently for the future. Each 
month, Councils complete a national return that 
informs the Government of how much COVID-19 is 
hugely affecting the finances of Councils. It is hoped 
that the Government will act with further funding 
when they have this national picture.
Options will be presented to Members for a revised 
Budget for 2020/21 during September 2020.

The Value for Money conclusion issued in 2020 by 
Grant Thornton (external auditors) will include 
considerations in respect of service continuity and 
the COVID19 Recovery Plan.

Risk A number of risks need to be highlighted:
Failing to respond to the pandemic is likely to have 
long term impacts on the council and the 
community it serves.

Moving focus from response to recovery too early 
may result in a lack of capacity to deal with the 
acute impacts of the pandemic on the health and 
wellbeing of residents with in our community.

Failing to prepare appropriately for recovery could 
significantly increase the adverse impacts of the 
pandemic on individuals and business within our 
community. 

Acting in a disproportionate manner and directing 
resources away from other key service areas may 
have adverse impacts in a number of areas 
including delivery of statutory services, customer 
satisfaction, vulnerable people and the financial 
sustainability of the organisation.

Supporting Information

Page 24



 
Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed/sign off Yes/No
SLT Rep briefed/sign off Yes/No
Relevant  Heads of Practice sign off (draft) Yes/No
Data protection issues considered Yes/No
Accessibility checked Yes/No

Appendix 1

Part 1: Draft Recovery and Renewal Framework
Part 2: Draft Recovery and Renewal Management/Development Structure
Part 3: Draft Recovery and Renewal Objectives
Part 4: Recovery and Renewal Themes 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Recovery and Renewal Plan

Operational (Internal) Strategic (External)

Lever in external expertise from partners to support Members and Officers

Strategic 
Objectives

Agile 
Accommodation  
ICT Management

Recovery 
Performance

Service 
Recovery

Agile 
Governance

Governance

Recovery Sustainability

Finance

Partners Residents

Community

Local 
Economy

Enabling 
and 

Support

Business

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Residents 

Supporting residents 
/ Vulnerable people

ELT: Isabel Blake

SLT: Steve Mullineaux

Cllr Jonathan 
Hawkins

Business

Supporting 
businesses through 
recovery, business 
advice, grant linking, 
tourism recovery

ELT: tbc 

SLT: Chris Brook 

Cllr Hilary Bastone

Community & 
Partnerships 

Responding to 
needs of community, 
community groups, 
partnerships 

ELT: Isabel Blake / 
Neil Hawke

SLT: Drew Powell/
Steve Mullineaux

Cllr Nicky Hopwood

Financial 
Sustainability

Assess the � nancial 
implications on the 
Councils of recovery

ELT: Pauline Henstock 

SLT: Lisa Buckle

Cllr Judy Pearce

Governance 

Assess governance 
implications on the 
Councils 

ELT: Catherine Bowen 

SLT: Drew Powell

Cllr Judy Pearce

Communications

Develop 
communications for 
the Councils, both 
Internal and External

ELT: Lesley Crocker

SLT: Drew Powell

Cllr Nicky Hopwood 

Service Recovery

Assess and Escalate 
options for service 
recovery inc services, 
assets, welfare

ELT: Sarah Moody, 
Catherine Bowen 

SLT: Steve Mullineaux

Cllr Keith Baldry

Council Governance and Decision-making

Senior Leadership Team 

Executive

Recovery Management Team (Weekly) 
Minimum Attendance : Incident Manager, Loggist, Support O�  cer, Operations Leads, Incident Strategic Manager, Tech

Response 
Escalate issues in to Recovery Cells 

where they impact on recovery

Escalate Strategic Issues 

Cross cutting planning and delivery in line with corporate themes

Recovery and Renewal
Management/
Development Structure

MEO SH BEL IL NE GW
UNM ITM IEO SC

NU CIO LC
RPRE IT SN EE

NO MRI EV NN TE

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Draft Recovery and Renewal Objectives

In considering SHDC’s approach to recovery/renewal we need to focus on the 
following objectives:

 The delivery of services that are focussed to meet the needs of customers, 
community and business are restored where appropriate

 Immediate and longer term financial sustainability is secured
 Members are engaged with decision making in an appropriate way through local 

democratic governance. 
 The principle of ‘Build Back Better’ is followed and that opportunities to learn and 

become more efficient and effective are realised wherever possible. 

In working towards the objectives, we will;

 Ensure that our plans reflect local needs but are aligned, where appropriate, to 
national, regional and county approaches and timescales. 

 Engage the wider community, partners and business in the recovery process 
 Build on the success of our closer relationship and positive communication with 

residents and the community engendered through the pandemic. 
 Embed resilience to mitigate the impact of this and future pandemics 
 Explore opportunities for service transformation, longer term regeneration, 

inclusive growth and sustainable economic development 
 Have regard to our existing six corporate themes 
 Ensure that changes to the way we work and to the services we deliver will take 

into consideration the welfare and wellbeing of staff 
 Assess and manage the environmental impact of recovery/renewal and resulting 

actions taken in line with the Councils Climate Change and Biodiversity 
Declaration

 Co-ordinate Strategic Communications and media management of the 
recovery/renewal process with partner agencies.

 Assess the potential ‘benefits’ arising from the pandemic, for example reduced air 
pollution/emissions, reduced car travel, increased physical activity, focus on local 
food chains, healthier eating, a reduction in rough sleeping and embed them in 
long term recovery/renewal.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Recovery and Renewal Theme Proposed areas for development
Residents  Increase in vulnerable population

o Financial
o Physical
o Mental

How do we identify and support them?
 Changing needs, expectations and 

demands.
 Engagement 

How do we ensure that we involve our 
residents?

 Harness
The skills and talent of residents for the 
good of the local area and wider district 

Business  Tourism
Do we play a more active role?

 Skills and Training
 Open space 

How do we use this best to promote 
safe enterprise?

 Town Centres 
How do we support the ‘New normal’ 
in the short and longer term

 Active travel opportunities
Links to Health and Climate 
commitments.

Community and Partnerships  Volunteers
How do we make this new community 
sustainable and what is our role?

 Partnerships 
Build on the existing strengthened 
partnerships.
Develop new partnerships that support 
our communities and residents.

 Towns and Parish Councils
In most case the relationship between 
the Council and the T&P’s has 
improved, how do we continue to 
develop these?

 Community Response Team
The team has been pivotal to the 
Councils response. Do we continue the 
role and what does this look like?

Page 33



Recovery and Renewal Theme Proposed areas for development
Financial Stability  Complete monthly Government 

returns on COVID costs and loss of 
income
It is hoped that the Government will act 
with further funding when the national 
picture is collated

 Government Lobbying for extra 
funding
Joint approach with Devon Councils

 Monthly budget monitoring reports
Include monitoring reserves
Collection rates

 Service delivery discussions
To discuss what services might look like 
under the ‘new normal’

 Review of statutory versus 
discretionary expenditure
To include corporate priorities

 Review of the Council’s Capital 
Programme
To include all capital projects

 Revise the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy
By July 2020
Accounts outturn for 2019/20

 Propose options to Councillors for an 
amended Budget for 2020/21
By September 2020

 Lobby Government for a change in 
some of the ‘rules’ for Councils
To change the accounting rules for 
capital repayments on borrowing and
capital receipts flexibility

 Press Government for an early 
decision on factors affecting our 
2021/22 Budget
New Homes Bonus funding
Negative Revenue Support Grant
Rural Services Delivery Grant

 Fair funding for rural Councils
Work with Rural Services Network to 
build the case for a fair allocation of 
funding

 Opportunities for further investment 
Borrowing

Page 34



Recovery and Renewal Theme Proposed areas for development
Communications  Communicating during the pandemic  

Where we were and where we are now
 Community Leadership 

Response into Recovery
Operational messaging

 Building Partnerships 
 Strengthening our regional voice
 Streaming meetings

The benefits in terms of Transparency,
Engagement and Efficiency

Governance (reference to Peer Review 
recommendations)

 Formal member meetings
Process/procedure for remote 
meetings 
DM – public participation/video site 
visits/delegation  

 Informal member meetings – remote 
to be the default?

 External – interaction with;
Town & Parish Councils  
External bodies

 Joint Working with West Devon
Can this be expanded?

 Member/Officer ways of working

Service Recovery  Role of the Council?
Facilitation, Co-ordination, Doing.

 Review of;
 Service demand and expectations

o On existing services
o New services requirements
o How customers access services
o Costs
o Contracts – Fusion/FCC

 Statutory/Discretionary
 Capitalise on flexibility of our 

operating model
 Build Back Better
 Ways of working

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of last Meeting
	6 Public Forum
	8 Coronavirus (COVID-19) Response and Draft Recovery and Renewal Plan Development
	Appendix 1 - Part 1: Draft Recovery and Renewal Framework
	Appendix 1 - Part 2: Draft Recovery and Renewal Management/Development Structure
	Appendix 1 - Part 3: Draft Recovery and Renewal Objectives
	Appendix 1 - Part 4: Recovery and Renewal Themes


